FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/20/2024 2:47 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No.

Case #: 1036281

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 852027

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JONATHAN T. SORRENTINO, as Personal Representative of the Estate of THOMAS R. SORRENTINO,

Respondent,

v.

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP OF AMERICA, INC.,

Defendant,

and

VOLKSWAGEN AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT,

Petitioner.

VOLKSWAGEN AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft, defendantappellant below, seeks review of the decision identified in part II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft seeks review of Division One's decision affirming the exercise of specific personal jurisdiction over it. A copy of that decision is attached as Appendix A. A copy of Division One's order denying Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft's reconsideration motion, along with that motion, is attached as Appendix B.

III. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff-Respondent Thomas Sorrentino obtained a nearly \$5 million judgment against Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft, a German corporate entity, and its independent subsidiary Volkswagen Group of America, Inc. (*Volkswagen America*), jointly and severally. Division One affirmed the judgment, which was based on a jury verdict for product liability, including

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 1

the trial court's decision to exercise specific jurisdiction over Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft.

Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft now seeks review of only whether it is subject to specific jurisdiction in Washington based solely on its independent subsidiary's contacts with Washington. Sorrentino's judgment against Volkswagen America will thus stand, regardless of this Court's ruling.

Disregarding the trial court's finding that Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft's independent subsidiary was neither its agent nor alter ago, Division One held that a foreign corporation is subject to specific jurisdiction in Washington based solely on (1) its independent subsidiary's Washington contacts and (2) its general interest in its subsidiary's doing business in the United States. That expansive view of specific jurisdiction opens parent companies to suit anywhere a subsidiary does business. This reformulation of the constitutional purposeful-availment standard means even an independent subsidiary's contacts may subject its parent company to Washington's jurisdiction.

PETITI●N F●R REVIEW - 2

Division One's novel approach violates due process and conflicts with numerous controlling decisions that have required at least an agency relationship before an independent subsidiary's contacts may be imputed to a parent company for personal jurisdiction.

In addition, Division One's decision alters the burden of proof for personal jurisdiction that this Court established in *LG Electronics*. Division One's decision allows a plaintiff to invoke specific jurisdiction against a defendant—after a bench trial and a full evidentiary record—based on a mere prima-facie showing instead of a preponderance of the evidence. A Washington court, under Division One's decision, must accept a plaintiff's jurisdictional allegations as true. This cannot be reconciled with *LG Electronics*. And because a plaintiff must establish personal jurisdiction over a defendant in every civil case, Division One's decision raises an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should resolve.

This Court has not opined on personal jurisdiction in almost a decade. This case raises a significant and recurring question of law under the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause. It also presents an ideal vehicle to ensure that Washington precedent is consistent with controlling Supreme Court precedent and to resolve the flipside of the question this Court answered nearly a decade ago in *Noll v. American Biltrite Inc.*, 188 Wn.2d 402, 497 P.2d 1311 (2017), which involved allegation adequacy at the pleading stage.

This Court should grant review to resolve these important issues because Division One's decision involves a legal question under the U.S. Constitution, conflicts with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, and raises several issues of substantial public interest.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Lawful exercise of specific personal jurisdiction over Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft.

The Due Process Clause permits a state court to exercise specific jurisdiction over a foreign corporation that has sufficient minimum contacts with the forum. Division One affirmed the

exerc1se of specific iurisdiction over Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft based solely on this German entity's recognition that its vehicles will be sold in the United States and on its independent U.S. subsidiary's contacts, even though the subsidiary is neither Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft's agent nor alter ego. That decision has the far-reaching consequence of subjecting a foreign corporation to specific jurisdiction in Washington, even if that foreign corporation has no minimum contacts with Washington, any time that corporation contracts with an independent subsidiary that does business Washington.

Should this Court grant review because Division One's decision (1) raises a significant legal question under the U.S. Constitution, (2) conflicts with *FutureSelect Portfolio Management, Inc. v. Tremont Group Holdings, Inc.*, 175 Wn. App. 840, 309 P.3d 555 (2013), which held that the parent must manage and substantially control the subsidiary's operations to warrant disregarding corporate separation, and (3) raises an issue of substantial public interest about whether an independent subsidiary's forum contacts may be imputed to its parent company based on a standard parent—subsidiary relationship to establish specific jurisdiction? *Yes.* (RAP 13.4(b)(2)–(4)).

2. A plaintiff's burden to establish specific jurisdiction.

A plaintiff must establish personal jurisdiction over a defendant. Absent an evidentiary hearing, a plaintiff need only make a prima-facie showing; after an evidentiary hearing, under *LG Electronics*, a plaintiff must establish jurisdiction by a preponderance of the evidence. The parties tried personal jurisdiction to the bench. In affirming the exercise of personal jurisdiction over Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft, Division One considered only whether Sorrentino made a sufficient primafacie showing of jurisdiction, treated Sorrentino's allegations as

true, and disregarded Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft's evidence rebutting jurisdiction.

Should this Court grant review because Division One's decision on specific jurisdiction (1) conflicts with this Court's specific-jurisdiction decision in *State v. LG Electronics*, 186 Wn.2d 169, 375 P.3d 1035 (2016), which held that a plaintiff must prove personal jurisdiction by a preponderance of the evidence after an evidentiary hearing, and (2) raises an issue of substantial public interest? *Yes.* (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4)).

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Volkswagen America is the exclusive importer of Volkswagen vehicles and parts in the United States.

Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft is a German stock company headquartered in Wolfsburg, Germany. RP 1045. It operates exclusively in Germany, designing and manufacturing Volkswagen vehicles and genuine replacement parts. RP 1045–46.

To serve the growing demand for its vehicles in the 1950s, independently owned importing companies worked with Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft in Germany to buy, distribute, and sell its vehicles and replacement parts abroad. RP 1045–49. One such company was Volkswagen America, incorporated in

New Jersey as an independently operated subsidiary of Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft. RP 838–42, 1048–49.

For the United States market, Volkswagen America is the exclusive, authorized importer of Volkswagen vehicles and parts. RP 838–42, 1048–49. At all relevant times, Volkswagen America bought Volkswagen vehicles and genuine replacement parts in Germany from Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft. CP 1315, 1331–32; RP 863. It imported the vehicles and parts into the United States and then marketed and sold them to authorized, independently owned Volkswagen distributors and dealerships. CP 1332; RP 842–43, 852, 863.

Volkswagen America also imported the service literature for the Volkswagen vehicles and parts. RP 857–60, 1072–79. Volkswagen America was responsible for promoting sales, customer service, and instruction of technical personnel at local dealerships. RP 848–51, 1071. And it advertised Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft products in the United States. RP 890.

A standard importer agreement controlled the relationship between Volkswagen Aktiengellschaft and Volkswagen America. Ex. 205. Under that agreement, (1) Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft agreed to sell its vehicles and parts in Germany to Volkswagen America, which would resell and distribute them into and throughout the United States; (2) Volkswagen America Volkswagen was not Aktiengesellschaft's agent; and (3) Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft neither controlled Volkswagen America's operations nor directed its activities in the United States. RP 1024; Ex. 205 at 3. Although Volkswagen America was a wholly owned subsidiary, it was a distinct, independently run business. RP 1024.

B. Volkswagen America established a network of independently owned Volkswagen distributors and dealerships in the United States.

Volkswagen America established a network of independently owned distributors in the United States, which worked with over 200 independently owned dealerships across

the country. RP 851–52, 863–64. Volkswagen America contracted with the regional distributors, which in turn contracted with the local dealerships to sell Volkswagen vehicles and parts and to hire mechanics to repair the vehicles. Ex. 205 at 6–10; RP 873.

Riviera Motors, based in Oregon, was one of Volkswagen America's distributors. RP 799, 857, 868. Riviera served the market for Volkswagen vehicles and parts in Washington. RP 868. It worked with 26 authorized, independently owned dealerships throughout the United States. RP 790, 869.

Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft had no contractual relationship with the distributors or dealerships. RP 873. And neither Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft nor Volkswagen America controlled how the distributors or dealerships ran their businesses. RP 979–80.

C. The trial court repeatedly declined to dismiss Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft for lack of specific jurisdiction.

United Volkswagen was an independent dealership in Spokane. RP 790, 869. United hired and trained mechanics to service used Volkswagen vehicles. RP 1702. For three years in the early 1970s, Sorrentino worked as a mechanic at United. RP 1702–10. He serviced the brakes and clutches on Volkswagen vehicles. RP 1710–14, 1780–85.

Nearly a half century later, Sorrentino contracted mesothelioma. RP 1694. He sued numerous defendants, including both Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft and Volkswagen America, for product liability and negligence. CP 1–4, 42–45, 85–88, 206–11. Sorrentino alleged that exposure to asbestoscontaining friction parts via his work at United caused his mesothelioma. CP 206–11.

Volkswagen America did not contest personal jurisdiction. But Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft did, repeatedly arguing that it lacked minimum contacts with Washington

sufficient to justify jurisdiction under the U.S. Constitution. CP 89–105. After jurisdictional discovery, the court found that (1) Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft and Volkswagen America had no agency relationship and (2) Sorrentino made no alter-ego argument. RP 68–69. It nonetheless concluded that, based on Volkswagen America's in-state conduct, Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft had purposeful mınımum contacts with Washington. CP 1184–87, 2492–94, 4505–08; RP 16–18, 30–31, 69.

The case proceeded to trial. After Sorrentino rested, Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft renewed its request to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. CP 10976–88. The trial court declined to dismiss. RP 1957–58, 1976, 1998–99.

Rendering a split verdict, the jury found product liability but no negligence. CP 11136–38. The court denied post-trial motions for judgment as a matter of law under CR 50 and for a new trial under CR 59 and made additional findings purporting

to support subjecting Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft to personal jurisdiction. CP 11703–09.

The court later entered judgment for nearly \$5 million against both Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft and Volkswagen America, jointly and severally. CP 11700–02.

D. Division One affirmed the judgment and concluded that Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft is subject to specific jurisdiction in Washington.

On appeal, Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft and Volkswagen America challenged the trial court's refusal to dismiss Sorrentino's two product-liability theories, three instructional errors, and its exercise of specific jurisdiction over Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft.

Division One affirmed. It held that Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft targeted the United States market, subjecting itself to specific jurisdiction in Washington. *Decision* at 28–36. To reach that conclusion, the court imputed Volkswagen America's contacts with Washington to Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft. *Id.* It declined to address the lack of an

agency relationship between the two companies. *Id.* at 33 n.14. And it applied a "prima facie" standard—rather than a "preponderance of the evidence" standard—to determine that Sorrentino satisfied his burden to establish jurisdiction. *Id.* at 27.

Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft seeks review of these important personal-jurisdiction issues.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. Division One's decision affirming the exercise of specific jurisdiction over a foreign company based on the actions of its independent subsidiary raises a significant legal question under the U.S. Constitution, conflicts with *FutureSelect*, and raises an issue of substantial public interest.

This case presents an ideal opportunity for this Court to ensure that its requirements for exercising personal jurisdiction over a foreign defendant are consistent with controlling U.S. Supreme Court precedent on a recurring issue of far-reaching importance to Washington and its citizens. This Court has not opined on personal jurisdiction in almost a decade. *See Noll*, 188 Wn.2d at 405. By intervening to correct Division One's

departure from controlling precedent, this Court can provide much-needed guidance to Washington courts, avoid the confusion that would result from the irreconcilable conflict between Division One's decision and its earlier decision in *FutureSelect*, and ensure that the same standard for exercising personal jurisdiction is applied in Washington as it is in other States—consistent with the Due Process Clause.

1. Division One subjected Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft to specific jurisdiction by imputing its independent subsidiary's contacts with Washington to Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft. Even though the trial court found that the independent subsidiary was neither Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft's agent nor alter ego, Division One still held that the independent subsidiary's contacts may be imputed to Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft.

That decision makes a standard parent—subsidiary relationship a trump card for personal jurisdiction over the parent company. Under the decision's framework, any product

manufacturer with shared financial goals and uniform standards with a subsidiary or distributor is now subject to jurisdiction anywhere its subsidiary or distributor operates. Merely setting uniform brand standards, such as in the importer agreement, would subject a manufacturer to jurisdiction in every state in a distribution network.

Such a significant, unlawful expansion of specific jurisdiction has far-reaching jurisdictional implications for any parent company that contracts with an independent subsidiary to transact business in the United States. Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft's general standards for consistent services and reasonable directives—of the kind that may exist in any parent–subsidiary relationship-—cannot satisfy the high threshold for imputing a subsidiary's contacts to its parent under controlling precedent. See Daimler AG v. Bauman, 571 U.S. 117, 134–35 n.13, 134 S. Ct. 746, 187 L. Ed. 2d 624 (2014); FutureSelect Portfolio Mgmt., Inc. v. Tremont Grp. Holdings, Inc., 175 Wn. App. 840, 891, 309 P.3d 555 (2013), aff'd, 180

Wn.2d 954, 331 P.3d 29 (2014), and aff'd, 190 Wn.2d 281, 413 P.3d 1 (2018).

2. The Due Process Clause of the "Fourteenth Amendment limits the personal jurisdiction of state courts." Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Super. Ct. of Cal., S.F. Cnty., 582 U.S. 255, 261, 137 S. Ct. 1773, 198 L. Ed. 2d 395 (2017); U.S. Const. amend. XIV. That Clause "sets the outer boundaries of a state tribunal's authority" to render a judgment against a foreign corporation. Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, SA v. Brown, 564 U.S. 915, 923, 131 S. Ct. 2846, 180 L. Ed. 2d 796 (2011); see also World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson, 444 U.S. 286, 291, 100 S. Ct. 559, 62 L. Ed. 2d 490 (1980). It "protects the defendant's right not to be coerced except by lawful judicial power." J. McIntyre Mach., Ltd. v. Nicastro, 564 U.S. 873, 877, 131 S. Ct. 2780, 180 L. Ed. 2d 765 (2011).

Due process requires that a foreign defendant has "purposeful minimum contacts" with the forum state. *Id.*; see

also Noll, 188 Wn.2d at 411. To establish those contacts, the defendant must act so as to "purposefully avail[] itself of the privilege of conducting activities within the forum State, thus invoking the benefits and protections of its laws." Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 475, 105 S. Ct. 2174, 85 L. Ed. 2d 528 (1985). The defendant's contacts with the forum—not those of a third party—control for purposeful availment. Noll, 188 Wn.2d at 411–15.

To exercise specific jurisdiction over a foreign manufacturer, a finding of purposeful availment requires "something more" than the manufacturer's placing a product into the stream of commerce. *McIntyre*, 564 U.S. at 889. "The placement of a product into the stream of commerce, without more, is not an act of the defendant purposefully directed toward the forum State." *Asahi Metal Indus. Co. v. Super. Ct. of Cal., Solano Cnty.*, 480 U.S. 102, 112, 107 S. Ct. 1026, 94 L. Ed. 2d 92 (1987). "Additional conduct of the defendant may indicate an intent or purpose to serve the market in the forum State, for

example, designing the product for the market in the forum State, advertising in the forum State, establishing channels for providing regular advice to customers in the forum State, or marketing the product through a distributor who has agreed to serve as the sales *agent* in the forum State." *Id.* (emphasis added).

In *McIntyre*, for instance, the U.S. Supreme Court reversed a state high court's decision subjecting a foreign manufacturer to personal jurisdiction because it established a "nationwide distribution system" and failed to take "some reasonable step to prevent the distribution of its products in this State." 564 U.S. at 879. Justice Breyer's controlling concurrence explained that "something more" required "specific effort" by the foreign defendant itself "to sell in [that state]" to establish specific jurisdiction. *Id.* at 889. These contacts could include state-specific efforts as "special state-related design, advertising, advice, marketing," or other specific connections, such as targeting potential customers in the forum. *Id.*

Critical to the issue here, the exercise of personal jurisdiction must be based on the defendant's own actions directed towards the forum. The "relevant relationship" to the forum, this Court has recognized, "must arise out of the contacts that the defendant itself creates with the forum state." Noll, 188 Wn.2d at 415–16 (citing Walden v. Fiore, 571 U.S. 277, 134 S. Ct. 1115, 188 L. Ed. 2d 12 (2014)); see also Bristol-Myers, 582 U.S. at 262 (explaining that the "suit must aris[e] out of or relat[e] to the defendant's contacts with the forum" (citations omitted)). The "primary focus" is the "defendant's relationship to the forum State." *Bristol-Myers*, 582 U.S. at 262 (emphasis The U.S. Supreme Court has "consistently rejected added). attempts to satisfy the defendant-focused minimum contacts inquiry by demonstrating contacts between a third party and the forum state." *Noll*, 188 Wn.2d at 415 (citing *Walden*).

Under this constitutional rule, corporations are presumed separate, and "the parent company is not automatically subject to jurisdiction...simply because the subsidiary is carrying on

business in the forum state." 4A CHARLES ALAN WRIGHT ET AL., FEDERAL PRACTICE & PROCEDURE § 1069.4 (3d ed. updated Apr. 2019). The only limited exception to this constitutionally based rule applies to impute contacts if the third party is proven to be the foreign defendant's alter ego or agent. *FutureSelect*, 175 Wn. App. at 891; *see also Daimler AG*, 571 U.S. at 133–36; *Williams v. Yamaha Motor Co.*, 851 F.3d 1015, 1025 (9th Cir. 2017); RCW 4.28.185(1); *CTVC of Haw. Co. v. Shinawatra*, 175 Wn. App. 840, 889, 309 P.3d 555 (2013).

That type of agency relationship may exist when a parent corporation has "more than a standard parent—subsidiary relationship" with its subsidiary. *FutureSelect*, 175 Wn. App. at 891; *see also Williams*, 851 F.3d at 1025; *Diece-Lisa Indus., Inc. v. Disney Enters., Inc.*, 943 F.3d 239, 251 (5th Cir. 2019); *Anwar v. Dow Chem. Co.*, 876 F.3d 841, 850 (6th Cir. 2017). The parent must actively manage and substantially control the subsidiary's operations to warrant disregarding corporate separation. *FutureSelect*, 175 Wn. App. at 891–92.

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