FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/20/2024 12:14 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1036281

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 852027

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JONATHAN T. SORRENTINO, as Personal Representative of the Estate of THOMAS R. SORRENTINO,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP OF AMERICA, INC.

Defendant

VOLKSWAGEN AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT,

De fendant/Petitioner.

ANSWER TO VOLKSWAGEN AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT'S PETTION FOR REVIEW

Chandler H. Udo, WSBA #40880 Brendan Little, WSBA #43905 Erica L. Bergmann, WSBA #51767 BERGMAN OSLUND UDO LITTLE 520 Pike Street, Suite 1125 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 957-9510

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

In addition to Ströhlein's testimony, the Court of Appeals found that specific provisions of the importer agreement also indicated purposeful availment. *Decision at* 31-32. For example, the importer agreement states that the "importer shall maintain a place of business in a manner reasonable satisfactory to VW AG." Id. It includes specific requirements for the layouts of dealerships such as a requirement for a salesroom, repair shop, and an inventory of VWAG parts. *Id.* In addition, the agreement indicated sweeping control of VWoA's operations by requiring that the importer (VWoA) "safeguard an in every possible way promote the interests of VW and the favorable reputation of VW products" and that VWoA "will give due consideration to all reasonable directives and suggestions of VW relating thereto." *Id.* The importer agreement required that technical personnel be thoroughly trained in special Volkswagen [VWAG] courses and thoroughly instructed about all new suggestions of VW for the servicing and repair of VW products. *Id.* VWoA was required to provide at least one complete set of Volkswagen [VWAG] customer service literature per repair shop. *Id.* According to Ströhlein, these bulletins were made "to ensure that the standard of quality was passed down from VWAG to VWoA and, ultimately to distributors and dealers." *Decision* at 32.

VWAG's efforts to create uniform standards of customer service in Washington likewise demonstrate purposeful availment. Compare *Downing*, where Division Three found that a foreign corporation had "extensive contacts" with Washington. 21 Wn. App. 2d at 642. There, defendant Textron did not own real estate in Washington; nor did it publish advertisements specifically targeting Washington residents. *Id.* at 649-50. But its predecessor, Cessna, sent notices and bulletins to customers in Washington, offered service for the planes in Washington, and advertised on its "mobile response truck." *Id.* at 643-50. In assessing Textron/Cessna's contacts, the Court also noted that

Washington was home to 3,040 Cessna aircraft, and that Cessna encourages those customers to fly, maintain, service, and resell the planes in Washington. *Downing*, 21 Wn. App. at 669. These contacts parallel VWAG's own efforts to facilitate the sale and service of Volkswagen vehicles in Washington and maintain corporate identity standards of sales and service in Washington's 26 dealerships. VWAG required its Washington dealerships to follow VWAG directives about service, sales, and promotion. Further, VWAG drafted, printed, and supplied its Washington dealers and mechanics with manuals and service bulletins on automotive maintenance, including brake and clutch repair, and required its Washington dealers to hire service managers trained by VWAG. In fact, communication went both ways. VWoA surveyed dealers about mechanical performance such as brake squeaking and would send the surveys to VWAG "so Germany could try to resolve [the] issue to better serve customers." Ex. 215; RP 905-08.

Comparison to *Ford*, too, is instructive. Ford is incorporated in Delaware and headquartered in Michigan, "[b]ut its business is everywhere." 592 U.S. at 355. It advertised, sold, and serviced its vehicles in the forum. *Id*. Under this "paradigm example" of specific jurisdiction, Ford's contacts with the forum were so clear that it agreed that the purposeful availment prong was met. *Id*. at 356, 361. Volkswagen's contacts are almost identical to Ford's, yet VWAG resists jurisdiction on the sole basis that it relied on its United States' subsidiary to act on its behalf in this forum. VWAG's argument is misguided.

2. VWAG Misconstrues the Relevance of Indirect contacts and Actions of Subsidiaries in the Court's Jurisdictional Analysis.

Direct contacts are not required for specific jurisdiction. World-Wide Volkswagen v. Woodson, 444 U.S. 286, 297, 100 S. Ct. 559, 62 L. Ed. 2d 490 (1980) (jurisdiction is reasonable when the sale of a product arises from the efforts of the manufacturer or distributor to directly or indirectly serve the market); Downing, 21 Wn. App. 2d at 664-65 ("The fact that the

manufacturer deals with the residents of the state indirectly rather than directly is not determinative"). For instance, in LG Electronics, the Washington Attorney General contended that foreign electronics manufacturers conspired to fix prices for sales of large volumes of cathode ray tube ("CRT") products, which they intended to be incorporated into products sold in large quantities in Washington state. 186 Wn.2d at 173. The defendants argued that they did not sell products directly to Washington and did not conduct business in Washington. *Id.* at 174. Unconvinced, the Court found sufficient facts to establish a prima facie case of purposeful minimum contacts because the defendants (1) "dominated the global market for CRTs" and (2) sold CRTs into the international streams of commerce with the intent that the CRTs would be incorporated into millions of CRT products sold across the United States and in large quantities in Washington." Id. at 182. This case is more compelling than LG Electronics, VWAG did much more than simply place its automobiles into the stream of commerce.

VWAG directed its subsidiary to make sure it happened, establishing dealers throughout Washington for that purpose. VWAG's contacts continued post-sale through its training programs and imposition on authorized dealerships of customer service standards.

This Court recently denied review of a Division 1 decision applying the same reasoning and rejected the contention VWAG makes here – that actions through an intermediary cannot confer jurisdiction. See Duell, 26 Wn. App. 2d at 900-01. There, the Washington resident plaintiff was injured when the plane on the third leg of a trip from Washington to Alaska crashed. *Id.* at 895. PenAir, a Delaware company headquartered in Alaska, operated the flight between two Alaska cities. Id. at 894. PenAir contested purposeful availment, asserting that it did not own property or conduct any operations in Washington, or solicit business or direct any actions toward Washington residents. *Id.* at 900. The Court of Appeals disagreed, observing that PenAir contracted with Alaska Airlines to market and sell its Alaska flights on PenAir's behalf. *Id.* at 894, 902. The Court of Appeals found no material distinction between PenAir contracting with Alaska Airlines to market in Washington on PenAir's behalf and PenAir marketing in Washington on its own behalf. *Id.* at 902. Like in *Duell*, VWAG used contracts with VWoA to intentionally reach beyond its home and exploit the market in Washington and establish Volkswagen's presence here. *See id.*

VWAG once again contends that the Court of Appeals erred when analyzing it subsidiaries acts in the forum. Washington's long-arm statute expressly allows courts to assert personal jurisdiction over a principle for an agent's acts. RCW 4.28.185(1). And case law confirms that actions of a subsidiary taken on behalf of and for the benefit of a principle considered in assessing personal jurisdiction. FutureSelect. 175 885-94. Wn. App. at *FutureSelect* acknowledged that the test for imputing contacts to a parent is far from clear. *Id.* at 888-90. But the Court focused on the activities of the parent company and ultimately found allegations that the parent controlled and managed the acts of its subsidiary that gave rise to the plaintiff's injury and benefited from those acts sufficient to establish purposeful availment. *Id.* at 892-93. This record establishes VWAG's control over the specific activities that injured Tony and demonstrates that VWAG benefited from the acts of its subsidiary, creating the United States market for Volkswagen products and maintaining Volkswagen's favorable reputation. RP 4220-21, 4262. Contrary to VWAG's arguments and misleading citations to *FutureSelect*, the Court may consider VWoA's acts taken at the direction of and for the benefit of VWAG in analyzing minimum contacts.

VWAG's contends that Sorrentino must establish an alter ego or some other special relationship as a threshold test to impute a subsidiary's contacts to the parent. This is a blatant

-

¹ VWAG raised this argument only in passing to the Court of Appeals. VWAG's failure to fully present its theory to the Court of Appeals makes this an inappropriate case to consider the issue. *See Pappas v. Hershberger*, 85 Wn.2d 152, 530 P.2d 642 (1975) (declining review issues that were abandoned in the Court of Appeals).

misrepresentation of law. For example, VWAG relies on *Daimler AG v. Bauman*, 517 U.S. 117, 134 S. Ct. 746, 187 L. Ed. 2d 624 (2014), for the proposition that an alter ego relationship is required to impute contacts. VWAG neglects to mention that *Daimler* analyzed general, not specific, jurisdiction. *Daimler* clarified that the actions of an agent may be relevant to specific jurisdiction, and "a corporation can purposefully avail itself of a forum by directing its agents or distributors to take action there. *Id.* at 135 n.13 (emphasis added). After all, "a corporation is a distinct legal entity that can only act through its agents." *Id.* quoting 1 W. Fletcher, Cyclopedia of the Law of Corporations § 30 (Supp. 2012-2013)).

This is not a close case. VWAG's contacts with Washington were "not random, fortuitous or attenuated." Instead, they were part of VWAG's systematic effort to market and sell its vehicles in Washington, guide Volkswagen service people in Washington, and dictate the means and manner that Volkswagen dealerships in Washington represented the

Volkswagen brand. The Court of Appeals reached the only rational result. Indeed, several other jurisdictions have found personal jurisdiction over VWAG under similar facts. For example, in a recent decision involving emissions tampering, the Texas Supreme Court relied heavily on the importer agreements between VWAG and VWoA to find that VWAG had established contacts with Texas through their direct contractual control over VWoA and indirect control over the dealerships. Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft, 669 S.W.3d 399, 415 (Tex. 2023). See also Mich. Motor Techs. LLC v. Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft, No. 19-10485, 2020 WL 2893038, at *1 (E.D. Mich. July 10, 2020) ("the idea that an American federal court cannot enforce the patent laws against a German company that manufacturers thousands of cars intended for distribution in this country is not supported by the governing law or, coincidentally, by common sense"). See also Opheim v. Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft, No. 20-02483, 2021 WL 2621689, *2-*3 (NJ. June 25, 2021) (finding a prima facie case of personal jurisdiction over Audi AG, who VWoA acts as importer to subject to an importer agreement with Audi). VWAG also fails to cite, let alone distinguish, these cases, which confirm – contrary to VWAG's assertions – that this case is no outlier.

B. This Case is the Wrong Vehicle to Address VWAG's Jurisdictional Arguments Because the Joint and Several Verdict Can Be Enforced Against VWoA.

There are also practical reasons for the Court to deny review in this case. The verdict against VWoA and VWAG was joint and several. VWoA does not contest the Court of Appeals decision affirming the verdict and acknowledges that the judgment against VWoA stands. *See* VWAG's Petition at 2 Because the verdict is joint and several, Sorrentino can and will seek enforcement of the *full* judgment against VWoA. *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wn. 2d 636, 668-69, 771 P.2d 111 (1989) (holding that defendants are jointly and severally responsible for the entire amount of plaintiff's damages in an asbestos case).

Sorrentino has filed a motion for a partial mandate as to VWoA only. See Appendix A; In re Estate of Foster, 55 Wn.

App. 545, 554, fn.1, 779 P.2d 272, 277 (1989) (directing the Clerk of Court to issue a partial mandate as to all defendants except Raymark in a mesothelioma case). Thus, it is likely that the judgment against VWAG is satisfied prior to hearing even if the Court accepts review, leaving no adverse party with an interest in VWAG's appeal. *Sofie*, 112 Wn.2d at 668-69. Even if remaining issues of indemnity or contribution between VWAG and its wholly owned subsidiary VWoA could maintain standing (doubtful), those potential controversies have not been litigated. Sorrentino's lack of financial interest in this petition undermines the actual controversy requirement for standing. This is simply the wrong vehicle for the Court to revisit the settled rules surrounding personal jurisdiction.

C. The Court of Appeals' Articulation of a Prima Facie Standard, Even if Erroneous, Does Not Change the Outcome of This Case and Has No Implications in Other Cases.

VWAG fails to create an issue of substantial interest from the Court of Appeal's application of a prima facie standard of review, rather than a preponderance standard. The Court of Appeals correctly noted that VWAG never requested an evidentiary hearing or special jury interrogatories. *Decision* at 27 n.12. Thus, its application of the prima facie standard is not Moreover, although the Court of Appeals clearly erroneous. articulated a lower standard of review, in effect it applied the preponderance standard. In reaching its decision, the Court of Appeals examined the extensive factual record was developed through a deposition of VWAG's legal officer in Europe, multiple pretrial motions with scores of exhibits, a Div. 1 discretionary review hearing and decision, and Sorrentino's case-in-chief with testimony of VWAG witnesses. The trial court considered all of this evidence and issued detailed findings of fact and conclusions of law which were upheld on appeal. CP 11703-09; RP 1938-53. The fact remains that VWAG was afforded its due process.

Whether the Court of Appeals applied a prima facie standard, substantial evidence standard, or preponderance of evidence standard, the result would be exactly the same –

VWAG's extensive contacts with Washington and those of its American distributor VWoA- were more than enough to establish purposeful availment. VWAG does not identify any evidence that the Court of Appeals failed to consider or explain how the prima facie standard led to the wrong result.

Significantly, VWAG does not claim that it was denied the opportunity to submit any evidence to the trial court. After Sorrentino rested his case, RP 1920, VWAG renewed its CR 12(b)(2) motion, RP 1931. The trial court—and the Court of Appeals—considered all evidence presented. VWAG's petition cites to no rebuttal evidence because it submitted none, declining the trial court's invitation to supplement the record and renew its motion. RP 1957. To the extent the Court of Appeals erred in applying the prima facie standard, it was harmless. See State v. Evans, 96 Wn.2d 1, 4-5 633 P.2d 83 (1981) (affirming the Court of Appeals' harmless error result while acknowledging the Court of Appeals applied a less rigorous standard of review than mandated by the United States Supreme Court).

Finally, the Court of Appeals' statements of law are consistent with past jurisdictional opinions. For example, the Court correctly held that allegations in the Complaint can satisfy the prima facie standard. *Id. LG Electronics*, 186 Wn.2d at 176. The opinion also does nothing to alter the prior holding in LG*Electronics* that once an evidentiary hearing is held, the standard of review is a preponderance of evidence. More importantly, the Court of Appeals never suggested that allegations in the complaint alone can meet a preponderance standard in any case. Rather, the Court simply reviewed the factual record under the lens of substantial evidence and prima facie standards because it reasoned no evidentiary record had been requested. This Court need not weigh in on this issue because the Court of Appeal's decision does not create new standards or conflict with any existing precedent and there is no risk that this unpublished decision will be cited for new principles of law. Cf. RAP 13.4(b)(1)(2).

V. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the plaintiff respectfully asks this Court to deny review.

I certify that this brief contains 4,969 words in compliance with RAP 18.17(c).

Signed in Seattle, Washington on the 20th day of December 2024.

BERGMAN OSLUND UDO LITTLE PLLC